

Understanding and addressing factors affecting carers' mental health during end-of-life caregiving: synopsis of meta synthesis of literature and stakeholder collaboration

Gunn Grande,^{1*} Christine Rowland,² Tracey Shield,¹ Kerin Bayliss,¹ Jackie Flynn,³ Danielle Harris,^{1,4} Alison Wearden,² Morag Farguhar,⁵ Maria Panagioti,⁶ Alexander Hodkinson,⁶ Margaret Booth,⁷ David Cotterill,⁷ Lesley Goodburn,⁷ Cedric Knipe⁷ and Penny Bee¹

¹Division of Nursing, Midwifery and Social Work, School of Health Sciences, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK ²Division of Psychology and Mental Health, School of Health Sciences, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK ³Public and Community Involvement and Engagement (PCIE) Panel, NIHR Applied Research Collaboration (ARC) Greater Manchester, Manchester, UK

⁴NIHR Applied Research Collaboration (ARC) Greater Manchester, Manchester, UK

⁵School of Health Sciences, University of East Anglia, Norwich, UK

⁶NIHR Greater Manchester Patient Safety Translational Research Centre, Division of Population Health, Health Services Research and Primary Care, School of Health Sciences, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

⁷Carer Review Advisory Panel, NIHR HS&DR project 18/01/01, University of Manchester, Manchester, UK

*Corresponding author gunn.grande@manchester.ac.uk

Published February 2025 DOI: 10.3310/RTHW8493

Plain language summary

Understanding and addressing factors affecting carers' mental health during end-of-life caregiving: synopsis of meta synthesis of literature and stakeholder collaboration

Health and Social Care Delivery Research 2025 DOI: 10.3310/RTHW8493

NIHR Journals Library www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk

This synopsis should be referenced as follows: Grande G, Rowland C, Shield T, Bayliss K, Flynn J, Harris D, et al. Understanding and addressing factors affecting carers' mental health during end-of-life caregiving: synopsis of meta synthesis of literature and stakeholder collaboration. Health Soc Care Deliv Res 2025;13(8):1-28. https://doi.org/10.3310/RTHW8493

Plain language summary

Background

Family carers give vital support to people nearing end of life, but their own mental health may suffer as a result. We need to understand what improves or worsens carers' mental health and tell stakeholders who can make changes for the better.

Aim

To summarise what we learnt from a review of research and work with carer advisors and other stakeholders, about what can affect carers' mental health during end-of-life caregiving, and what may help.

Method

We reviewed research from 2009 to 2019 that looked at factors that may affect carers' mental health when supporting someone nearing the end of life, worked with a carer Review Advisory Panel (6 members; 9 meetings), and did 6 workshops/ discussion groups (36 participants) and a survey (43 participants) with carers/patients, practitioners and policy-makers/ commissioners.

Results

One hundred and six reviewed studies showed the following factors can affect carers' mental health: (1) how well the patient was doing, (2) how much caregiving affected carers' lives, (3) how good carer relationships were with the patient and other family, (4) how sufficient their financial resources were, (5) carers' thoughts, feelings and confidence about caregiving, (6) how good the support was from formal services, family and friends and (7) background: mental health may be better in older carers, worse in females. Carer Review Advisory Panel recommendations included awareness raising, carer 'road maps' for guidance, appropriate needs assessment, co-ordinated care through a single contact point, and covering carers' basic practical and financial needs. Review findings and recommendations made sense to other stakeholders. Improvements may require dedicated carer support workers and systems changes.

Conclusions

Findings and recommendations give some clear pointers towards improvement, including specific carer support roles and improved financial security. Health and social care make huge savings from carers' work, and investment should be made to support carers in return.

For details and resources: https://arc-gm.nihr.ac.uk/carer-project-.

Part of this work was produced by Grande et al.¹ under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaption in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed.

Health and Social Care Delivery Research

ISSN 2755-0079 (Online)

A list of Journals Library editors can be found on the NIHR Journals Library website

Health and Social Care Delivery Research (HSDR) was launched in 2013 and is indexed by Europe PMC, DOAJ, INAHTA, Ulrichsweb[™] (ProQuest LLC, Ann Arbor, MI, USA), NCBI Bookshelf, Scopus and MEDLINE.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (www.publicationethics.org/).

Editorial contact: journals.library@nihr.ac.uk

This journal was previously published as *Health Services and Delivery Research* (Volumes 1–9); ISSN 2050-4349 (print), ISSN 2050-4357 (online)

The full HSDR archive is freely available to view online at www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk/hsdr.

Criteria for inclusion in the Health and Social Care Delivery Research journal

Manuscripts are published in *Health and Social Care Delivery Research* (HSDR) if (1) they have resulted from work for the HSDR programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the reviewers and editors.

HSDR programme

The HSDR programme funds research to produce evidence to impact on the quality, accessibility and organisation of health and social care services. This includes evaluations of how the NHS and social care might improve delivery of services.

For more information about the HSDR programme please visit the website at https://www.nihr.ac.uk/explore-nihr/funding-programmes/health-and-social-care-delivery-research.htm

This article

The research reported in this issue of the journal was funded by the HSDR programme or one of its preceding programmes as award number NIHR135606. The contractual start date was in July 2019. The draft manuscript began editorial review in October 2023 and was accepted for publication in October 2024. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HSDR editors and production house have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' manuscript and would like to thank the reviewers for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this article.

This article presents independent research funded by the National Institute for Health and Care Research (NIHR). The views and opinions expressed by authors in this publication are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care. If there are verbatim quotations included in this publication the views and opinions expressed by the interviewees are those of the interviewees and do not necessarily reflect those of the NHS, those of the authors, those of the NHS, the NIHR, the HSDR programme or the Department of Health and Social Care.

This article was published based on current knowledge at the time and date of publication. NIHR is committed to being inclusive and will continually monitor best practice and guidance in relation to terminology and language to ensure that we remain relevant to our stakeholders.

Copyright © 2025 Grande *et al.* This work was produced by Grande *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care. This is an Open Access publication distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution CC BY 4.0 licence, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, reproduction and adaptation in any medium and for any purpose provided that it is properly attributed. See: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. For attribution the title, original author(s), the publication source – NIHR Journals Library, and the DOI of the publication must be cited.

Published by the NIHR Journals Library (www.journalslibrary.nihr.ac.uk), produced by Newgen Digitalworks Pvt Ltd, Chennai, India (www.newgen.co).